RECEIVED

06-13-2013

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Appeal No. 2013AP000362 Milw. Cty. Case No. 12-CF-438

vs.

KELLY M. RINDFLEISCH,

Defendant-Appellant.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT KELLY M. RINDFLEISCH'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

APPEAL FROM THE ORDER DENYING MOTION TO SUPPRESS ENTERED ON SEPTEMBER 14, 2012 AND THE JUDGMENT AND CONVICTION ENTERED ON NOVEMBER 27, 2012, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, HONORABLE DAVID A. HANSHER PRESIDING,

INTRODUCTION

This involves the circuit court's case interpretation and application of state and federal law governing search warrants issued to out-of-state entities Yahoo and Google (Gmail) by a Wisconsin circuit court judge presiding over a John Doe proceeding. Defendant Kelly M. Rindfleisch moved to suppress the fruits of those search warrants on grounds that the sweeping nature of the warrants, purportedly permitted bv the Wisconsin Legislature's enactment of section 968.375, Stats., eviscerated her privacy rights under the Fourth and Fourteenth amendments of the United States Constitution and correlative provisions of the Wisconsin Constitution, as well as potentially running afoul of other constitutional protections, including her rights under the First and Sixth Amendments and HIPPA laws.

In essence, the state's response to Rindfleisch's suppression motion was that it is entitled to conduct a fishing expedition via overly broad warrants without any screening system to preclude prosecutors from reviewing privileged or otherwise sensitive information. Ignoring the grave invasion of privacy that results when the state is granted such overreaching authority, the circuit court adopted the state's position, thereby rendering the Fourth Amendment meaningless with respect to search of digital and electronic data.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Did the circuit court err when it denied Rindfleisch's motion seeking suppression of emails obtained by the state via warrants issued to Yahoo and GMail?

Not answered by circuit court.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is appropriate in this case because it would provide the Court and counsel an opportunity to explore the interplay between the language of the Wisconsin and federal statutes, the cases interpreting the statute and other applicable federal precedent. Argument also would provide an opportunity to address current societal concerns regarding limits – or lack thereof – on the government's ability to access information about and from private citizens through the use of technology.

Publication of this Court's decision is appropriate because no reported Wisconsin decision specifically addresses these issues. This case will establish precedent for the admission of digital evidence obtained from internet service providers located outside the State of Wisconsin.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This case arises from allegations that Rindfleisch engaged in partisan campaign activities on Milwaukee County time. (R.3). These allegations are based in part on email communications Rindfleisch allegedly had related to campaign activities and, specifically for purposes of this appeal, email communications that were seized by investigators through a broad exercise of warrants issued by the Milwaukee County Circuit Court to internet service providers outside the State of Wisconsin. (*Id.*).

B. Course of Proceedings.

On January 26, 2012, the state filed a criminal complaint against Rindfleisch charging her with four counts of misconduct in public office, a felony, contrary to section 946.12(3), *Stats*. (*Id*.). Based on the complaint and according to discovery provided to defense counsel, prior to initiating charges, the state sought and obtained general investigative search warrants to collect information and evidence from out-of-state ISPs Yahoo and Gmail relative to Rindfleisch's personal email accounts with those entities. (R.26:1-8;App.115-120).

The search warrant directed to Yahoo provides:

- (a) The contents of all communications stored in the Yahoo accounts for the subscriber(s) identified above, including all emails stored in the account, whether sent from or received in the account as well as e-mails held in a "Deleted" status;
- (b) All records or other information regarding the identification of the accounts, including full name, physical address, telephone numbers and other identifiers, records of session times and durations, the date on which the accounts were created, the length of service, the types of service utilized, the

IP address used to register the accounts, log-in IP addresses associated with session times and dates, account statuses, alternative email addresses provided during registration, methods of connecting, log files, and means and source of payment (including any credit or bank account number);

(c) All records pertaining to communications between Yahoo, Inc. and any person regarding the accounts, including contacts with support services and records of actions taken.

(R.26:1-4;App.115-17). The search warrant directed to

Gmail provides:

- (a) The contents of all communications stored in the Gmail accounts for the subscriber(s) identified above, including all emails stored in the account, whether sent from or received in the account as well as e-mails held in a "Deleted" status;
- (b) All address books, contact lists, friends lists, buddy lists, or any other similar compilations of personal contact information associated with the accounts;
- All records or other information regarding (c) the identification of the accounts, including full name, physical address, telephone numbers and other identifiers, records of session times and durations, the date on which the accounts were created, the length of service, the types of service utilized, the IP address used to register the accounts, log-in IP addresses associated with session dates, times and account statuses, alternative email addresses provided during registration, methods of connecting, log files, and means and source of payment (including any credit or bank account number);

(d) All records pertaining to communications between Gmail (Google) and any person regarding the accounts, including contacts with support services and records of actions taken.

(R.26:5-8;App.118-20).

Rindfleisch moved to suppress the evidence obtained via the search warrants on grounds that the warrants lacked the required level of particularity and were overly broad. (R.23-R.26). On August 21, 2012, the court issued an order from the bench denying the motion. (R.83:9-10;App.112-13). A written order denying the motion was entered on September 14, 2012. (R.51;App.103). Rindfleisch petitioned this Court for leave to appeal the circuit court's decision, but that petition was denied on October 2, 2012. (R.66).

Following extensive plea negotiations, on October 11, 2012, Rindfleisch entered and the court accepted a plea of guilty to one count of misconduct in public office, a Class I felony, in violation of section 946.12(3), *Stats*. (R.84:14-20). Rindfleisch appeared for sentencing on November 19, 2012. (*See* R.78;App.101). The circuit court withheld sentence and placed Rindfleisch on probation for a period of three years, imposed a six month period of confinement with Huber release privileges in the House of Correction, and ordered her to pay costs and surcharges. (R.78;App.101-02).

Judgment of conviction was entered on November 27, 2012 (R.78;App.101-02), and Rindfleisch filed a timely notice of intent to pursue post-conviction relief on the same date. (R.79). Rindfleisch filed a timely notice of appeal on February 12, 2013. (R.80).

C. Disposition Below.

Rindfleisch was convicted of one count of felony misconduct in public office. She was ordered to serve a probation term of three years, plus six months confinement, with release privileges, in the House Correction as a condition of her probation. (R.78;App.101-02).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts relevant to this appeal are generally undisputed. Rindfleisch was hired as a policy advisor for Governor Scott Walker while he was still Milwaukee County Executive in early 2010. (R.3:3). She was promoted to Deputy Chief of Staff in March 2010. (R.3:4). As a Milwaukee County employee, Rindfleisch was issued a laptop computer and an email account: Kelly.Rindfleisch@milwcnty.com. (*See* R.24:3). In addition, Rindfleisch had a personal laptop computer and cell phone for which she created and owned personal email accounts with internet service providers (ISPs) Yahoo and Gmail: rellyk_us@yahoo.com and kmrindfleisch@gmail.com, respectively. (See R.26:2,6;App.115,118).

In late 2010, as part of a John Doe investigation into activities of colleagues of Governor Scott Walker while he was still Milwaukee County Executive, law enforcement officials delved into communications among Walker's County Executive staff, the staff for his

gubernatorial campaign and the campaign staff for lieutenant governor candidate Brett Davis. (R.3:2-3). As part of their investigation, law enforcement officials requested and obtained warrants issued to unknown employees at Yahoo and Gmail to obtain "all communications" stored in the Yahoo and Gmail accounts for the email addresses identified above, including all emails stored in the account, whether received from the at sent or account. (R.26:2,6;App.115,118). The ISPs produced the information pursuant to the warrants, and it was disclosed as part of the criminal complaint. (See R.3; passim).

As noted above, Rindfleisch moved to suppress all evidence obtained via the search warrants issued to Yahoo and Gmail on grounds that doing so violated her constitutional rights. (R.22-R.26). In denying her motion, the circuit court determined that search warrants requiring an unknown employee of an ISP to produce "all" of a person's email records was not

constitutionally defective as overbroad read as a whole, that the warrants authorized the search of specific email accounts for a specific period for specific crimes, and, even if the warrants were overbroad, they should not be suppressed because the search was not in "flagrant disregard for the limitations" of the warrant. (R.83:8;App.111).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews the denial of a motion to suppress evidence under a two-part standard of review. The Court upholds the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous; however, the Court reviews *de novo* whether those facts warrant suppression. *State v. Hampton,* 2010 WI App 169, ¶23, 330 Wis. 2d 531, 543-44, 793 N.W.2d 901.

The interpretation and constitutionality of a statute "as applied" are questions of law reviewed *de novo. In re Gwenevere T.,* 2011 WI 30, ¶19, 333 Wis. 2d 273, 284-85, 797 N.W.2d 854.

ARGUMENT

THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED RINDFLEISCH'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE INFORMATION OBTAINED FROM HER YAHOO AND GMAIL ACCOUNTS.

Rindfleisch acknowledges she did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in her employerprovided computer and her Milwaukee County email She did, however, have a reasonable account. expectation of privacy and cognizable rights to privacy and protection from intrusion relative to her own personal computer, mobile phone, and personal emails, text messages and mobile phone communications. This expectation of privacy is recognized and protected by the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments and correlative provisions of the Wisconsin Constitution, as well as various federal and state statutes. See City of Ontario v. Quon, 560 U.S. ___, 130 S.Ct. 2619, 2630 (2010). Email communications are entitled to the same strong Fourth Amendment protections traditionally afforded to telephone and letter communications. United States v. Warshak, 631 F.3d 266, 285-87 (6th Cir. 2010). An email

subscriber enjoys a reasonable expectation of privacy in the contents of her private emails that are stored with, sent or received through a commercial internet service provider. *Id.* at 288. So, too, for cell phone subscribers' text messages. *See State v. Clampitt*, 364 S.W.3d 605, 611 (Mo. Ct. App. 2012) (citing *Warshak*).

Absent a valid warrant, any search of records maintained by ISPs constitutes a violation of the Fourth Amendment. Warshak, 631 F.3d at 288; Clampitt, 364 S.W.3d at 611. Thus, if the warrants issued to Yahoo and GMail were deemed to be general warrants -- and if the state failed to make an adequate showing of probable cause as to why *all* of Rindfleisch's emails and texts had to be searched as part of the state's investigation -- the search of Rindfleisch's computer, Yahoo and Gmail account information, emails, text messages and cell phone communications violated her constitutional rights. Therefore, all evidence obtained via those warrants and the fruit of the evidence should

have been suppressed and the circuit court's order denying the motion must be reversed.

A. Search Warrants Are Required To Identify The Objects To Be Seized With Requisite Particularity.

States Supreme The United Court "has consistently asserted that the rights of privacy and personal security protected by the Fourth Amendment "... are to be regarded as of the very essence of constitutional liberty; and that the guaranty of them is as important and as imperative as are the guaranties of the other fundamental rights of the individual citizen." Harris v. United States, 331 U.S. 145, 150 (1947). The Fourth Amendment requires that a search warrant describe the things to be seized with sufficient prevent a general particularity to exploratory rummaging in a person's belongings. See Marron v. United States, 275 U.S. 192, 196 (1927) ("The requirement that warrants shall particularly describe things to be seized makes general searches under them impossible and prevents the seizure of one thing under a warrant describing another. As to what is to be taken, nothing is to be left to the discretion of the officer executing the warrant.").

Thus, the Fourth Amendment prohibits the issuance of any warrant that does not describe the objects to be seized with particularity. Maryland v. Garrison, 480 U.S. 79, 84 (1987). General warrants do not satisfy the Fourth Amendment requirement that the warrant contain a description of the place to be searched and the person or things to be seized. Andresen v. Maryland, 427 U.S. 463, 480 (1976); United States v. Jones, 54 F.3d 1285, 1290 (7th Cir. 1995). The particularity requirement guards against the government indiscriminately rummaging through a person's property for evidence about any and every possible crime under the sun. *Jones*, 54 F.3d at 1290.

A warrant must be specific enough that the officers involved in its execution are able to identify the things to be seized with reasonable certainty. *United States v. Spears*, 965 F.2d 262, 277 (7th Cir. 1992).

"[W]arrants are conclusively invalidated by their substantial failure to specify as nearly as possible the distinguishing characteristics of the goods to be seized." United States v. Leary, 846 F.2d 592, 600 (10th Cir. 1988) (internal citations omitted). The "[f]ailure to employ the specificity available will invalidate a general description in a warrant." United States v. Cook, 657 F.2d 730, 733 (5th Cir. 1981). In addition to preventing general searches, a sufficiently particularized warrant also assures that the individual whose property is searched or seized is aware of the lawful authority of the executing officer, his need to search and the scope and limits of his power to search. Groh v. Ramirez, 540 U.S. 551, 561 (2004).

Law enforcement officers must be especially careful when seeking authority to seize a broad class of information such as documents or computer data. *See, e.g., Leary,* 846 F.2d at 603 n.18 ("search warrants for documents are generally deserving of somewhat closer scrutiny with respect to the particularity requirement because of the potential they carry for a very serious intrusion into personal privacy") (internal citations omitted). So, too, is closer scrutiny required for search warrants issued to obtain emails, texts and other forms of electronic communication.

The basic standard of particularity remains as the United States Supreme Court stated it nearly eighty "The requirement that warrants shall years ago. particularly describe the things to be seized makes general searches under them impossible and prevents the seizure of one thing under a warrant describing another. As to what is to be taken, nothing is left to the discretion of the officer executing the warrant." Marron v. United States, 275 U.S. at 196; see also Jones, 54 F.3d at 1290. "The Fourth Amendment bans exploratory rummaging (which diminishes privacy) and excessive seizures (which interfere with property)." United States v. Bentley, 825 F.2d 1104, 1110 (7th Cir. 1987).

B. The Warrants Issued To Yahoo And GMail Lack The Level Of Particularity Required To Pass Constitutional Muster.

The warrant applications and affidavits in this case, and the warrants themselves, fail to establish probable cause that all of the information the state sought constituted evidence of any crime or evidence, and if so, what. See United States v. Stubbs, 873 F.2d 210 (9th Cir. 1989) (warrant describing generic categories of documents without any effort to specifically describe the items which the officers could have seized under a probable cause standard); Leary, 846 F.2d at 602-03 ("'By listing every type of record that could conceivably be found in an office, the warrant effectively authorized the inspectors to cart away anything they found on the premises'") (quoting Roberts v. United States, 656 F.Supp. 929, 934 (S.D.N.Y. 1987)). Here, the warrants required unknown employees of the ISPs to produce all of their records, and then left it to law enforcement officers to sift through Rindfleisch's personal, private

communications to determine which of those communications actually related to their case.

What happened here is exactly what longestablished law prohibits. The affidavits in support of the search warrants failed to provide probable cause for the seizure of any and all communications associated with the nominated email accounts regardless of any relationship of those communications to the state's investigation. The warrants permitted the seizure of *all* communications without any limitation whatsoever. Such general warrants permitting exploratory rummaging and excessive searches, violate the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments and their Wisconsin constitutional correlatives.

Unknown employees of the ISPs complied with the warrants, allowing law enforcement to review all of Rindfleisch's emails, which could have included matters clearly privileged under the law, such as communications with her attorneys or physicians, protected under the Sixth Amendment and HIPPA,

respectively, as well as correlative Wisconsin law. The emails could have contained Rindfleisch's communications with her pastor or spiritual provider. They could have included personal communications with family members or even intimate communications with a loved one. Under the warrants, the ISPs were required to produce a myriad of categories of communications, none of which had any relationship or relevance to the state's investigation. The absence of any limitations or particularity as to the items to be produced rendered the warrants constitutionally defective.

The warrants also lacked sufficient particularity because, as courts have recognized, there are methods available to law enforcement officers to enable them to identify particular computer files and minimize the intrusion of protected privacy rights without searching files outside the scope of a warrant. For example, in searching a computer, "observing file types and titles listed on the directory, doing a keyword search for relevant terms, or reading portions of each file stored in the memory" were suggested as means to search for specific records without rummaging through all records in *United States v. Carey*, 172 F.3d 1268, 1276 (10th Cir.

1999). As the Carey court noted:

Computer programs store information in a wide variety of formats. For example, most financial spreadsheets store information in a completely different format than do word processing programs. Similarly, an investigator reasonably familiar with computers should be able to distinguish database programs, electronic mail files, telephone lists and stored visual or audio files from each other. Where a search warrant seeks only financial records, law enforcement officers should not be allowed to search through telephone lists or word processing files absent a showing of some reason to believe that these files contain the financial records.

Id. at 1275, n.8 (quoting Winick, "Searches and Seizures

of Computers and Computer Data," 8 HARV. L.J. &

ТЕСН. 75, 108 (1994)).

C. The Circuit Court Misapplied *Bowen, Taylor* and *Mann*.

In its ruling below, the circuit court held that prescreening or other limitations have been held not to be *required* in the Fourth Amendment context. (R.83:3;App.106). Apparently, the circuit court interpreted that language to allow law enforcement officers carte blanche to subpoena and seize a citizen's computer records and digital information, provided they later rifle through these personal documents to find evidence to justify their search. In reaching this conclusion, the court ignored caselaw supporting Rindfleisch's position and instead adopted caselaw that is factually distinguishable.

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