# RECEIVED

## 04-11-2014

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEALOF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2013AP362-CR (Milwaukee County Cir. Ct. Case No. 2012CF438)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Kelly M. Rindfleisch,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING SUPPRES-SION AND FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DAVID A. HANSHER PRESIDING

## BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT STATE OF WISCONSIN

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

CHRISTOPHER G. WREN Assistant Attorney General State Bar No. 1013313

Attorneys For Plaintiff-Respondent State of Wisconsin

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

#### ARGUMENT

Rindfleisch's appeal rests on a basic assumption: the warrants by which the State obtained e-mail records from Google and Yahoo! suffered from overbreadth. Based on that assumption, Rindfleisch contends that the circuit court erred by denying her motion to suppress the e-mail records and (as derivative evidence) the personal laptop computer seized during the execution of the search warrant at the Milwaukee County Executive's office.

For the reasons that follow, this court should reject Rindfleisch's attack on the Google and Yahoo! warrants and should affirm the judgment of conviction.

I. REMOVING THE SHINE FROM THE SHINY OBJECT: FOR FOURTH AMENDMENT PUR-POSES, ELECTRONIC DATA DOES NOT DIF-FER SIGNIFICANTLY FROM CONVENTIONAL PAPER-BASED DATA.

Too frequently, judges and litigants seem dazzled when confronted by computer-stored data. This case illustrates the point. Ignoring salient differences from her case, Rindfleisch points to the use of a so-called "filter agent" in *United States v. Taylor*, 764 F. Supp. 2d 230 (D. Me. 2011), to review a defendant's e-mails to "cull out any potentially privileged materials before either the investigating agent or prosecutor received them." Rindfleisch's Brief at 23-24.<sup>10</sup> Rindfleisch's reliance on a "filter agent" protocol appears to rest on the character of the seized materials as digital rather than nondigital or analog (*i.e.*, paper-based): Rindfleisch does not appear to contend (or even imply) that an identical warrant for paper-based documents matching the criteria set out in the warrant and supporting affidavit would have implicated any need for a "filter agent."

For Fourth Amendment purposes, whatever differences distinguish digital data from nondigital data do not matter in this case. The size of a data file does not create a distinction for Fourth Amendment purposes. For example, the transcript of the hearing at which the John Doe court enlarged the scope of the John Doe proceeding to include Rindfleisch as a target (87:Ex. 9 (hr'g tr.), R-Ap. 315-441) consists of 127 physical pages measuring 8.5 inches by 11 inches. As the table below shows, the size of a PDF digital version of that document can vary by a factor of eighteen

The state's unilateral review of Ms. Rindfleisch's emails, without use of a filter agent and without any effort to protect privileged information, eviscerated her privacy rights under the United States Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution. The Court's order directing her to conduct the review that should have been conducted by a filter agent years ago provides her such limited relief that she cannot justify the time or expense of such an exercise.

(R-Ap. 494.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See also letter from Franklyn M. Gimbel, counsel for Kelly Rindfleisch, to Judge Patricia S. Curley (Feb. 7, 2014):

(from 1.08 MB to 19.5 MB), depending on such things as the original scanning resolution and the subsequent processing the file undergoes. Yet, despite this wide variation in digital size, each file contains the same content and number of digital pages as the original paper-based document.

SCAN RESOLU-		DIGITAL SIZE (AF-
TION OF TRAN-	DIGITAL SIZE	TER OCR AND SIZE
SCRIPT (IN DOTS	(RAW) (IN MEGA-	REDUCTION, I.E.,
PER INCH (DPI))	BYTES (MB))	COMPRESSION)
300 dpi	7.36 MB	2.61 MB
	(7,713,657 bytes)	(2,735,231 bytes)
600 dpi	19.5 MB	1.08 MB
	(20,495,036 bytes)	1,132,835 bytes)

Similarly, digital data does not necessarily equate with an unduly burdensome quantity of data. Here, the response to the Google warrant yielded PDF files totaling a bit less than 218.52 MB (229,138,489 bytes),<sup>11</sup> amounting to 16,168 e-mail pages (87:Ex. 11 (Google search-warrant return)), or slightly more than thirty-two reams of standard 8.5-inch by 11-inch paper, which (for standard 20-pound photocopy paper) would occupy a bit less than five feet five inches of file-cabinet space — not a trivial quantity, but hardly an unmanageable quantity in a legal system where dis-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> "Byte" refers to "[a] unit of data equal to eight bits." THE AMERICAN HERITAGE DICTIONARY OF THE ENGLISH LANGUAGE 256 (5th ed. 2011). In this context, "bit" means "[a] binary digit, having either a value of 0 or 1, used to store or represent data." *Id.* at 188 (noting the term's derivation from "b(inary dig)it"). A megabyte (commonly characterized as a million bytes) equals 1,048,576 (or 2<sup>20</sup>) bytes. *Id.* at 1094. *See also* "Megabytes, Gigabytes, Terabytes... What Are They?," WHAT'S A BYTE?, http://www.whatsa byte.com (last visited Apr. 10, 2014).

covery can run into millions of paper-based pages.  $^{12}$ 

Intermingling of different kinds of files does not distinguish digital data from nondigital data. A paper-based file cabinet can contain a variety of file types — printed documents, photographs, even digital files stored on a CD or DVD —haphazardly filed. Likewise, a computer disk, USB drive, or other electronic-storage device can contain a variety of file types — text, image, audio, video — haphazardly filed.

Intermingling of files with varying degrees of recognized confidentiality or privilege (ranging from none to constitutionally based) does not distinguish digital data from nondigital data.<sup>13</sup> Even in a paper-based filing system, confidential and nonconfidential documents can reside in the same folder (*e.g.*, a physician's report sitting next to a printout of a Wikipedia article on an ailment, or a lawyer's letter of legal advice sitting next to a printout of the lawyer's profile from the lawyer's website).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> E.g., *McNulty v. Reddy Ice Holdings, Inc.*, 271 F.R.D. 569, 570 & n.1 (E.D. Mich. 2011) (paper documents totaling approximately 2,600,000 pages and digital data totaling approximately four terabytes (*i.e.*, four trillion bytes), the equivalent of about 880 million pages); *Performance Pricing, Inc. v. Google Inc.*, 2009 WL 2832353, at \*2 (E.D. Tex. Aug. 31, 2009) (1.8 million pages of documents produced).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> United States v. Taylor, 764 F. Supp. 2d 230, 235 n.22 (D. Me. 2011) (noting similarity of intermingling in digital and paper-based data).

The need to open a digital file to determine its content does not distinguish digital data from nondigital data. The content of a paper document does not self-disclose; someone must view and at least skim the document to determine (at least preliminarily) its content.<sup>14</sup> Whether confronted by a digital file on a computer disk or a paper document lying face-down on a surface, someone must open it — by invoking a decrypting program like Microsoft Word or by turning the document face up — in order to determine the content of the file or document and thus the relevance of the file or document.

The data container does not distinguish digital data from nondigital data. For example, Google's Gmail service corresponds to a massive brick-and-

The warrant was not unconstitutionally overbroad because non-contraband items contained within the computer (such as bank statements, professional records, personal photographs and music) were also subject to seizure. Again, federal courts have consistently recognized that computer searches pose unique challenges that may result in "some innocuous documents [being] examined, at least cursorily in order to determine whether they are, in fact, among those papers authorized to be seized." *Andersen* [*sic*] *v. Maryland*, 427 U.S. 463, 482 n. 11, 96 S.Ct. 2737, 49 L.Ed.2d 627 (1976).

*Id.* at \*9. *See also United States v. Burgess*, 576 F.3d 1078, 1094 (10th Cir. 2009) ("[I]n the end, there may be no practical substitute for actually looking in many (perhaps all) folders and sometimes at the documents contained within those folders, and that is true whether the search is of computer files or physical files.").

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Cf. United States v. Conrad, 2013 WL 4028273
 (M.D. Fla. Aug. 7, 2013):

mortar warehouse,<sup>15</sup> with a Gmail customer's e-mail account corresponding to a tenant's storage space in the warehouse. Unless law enforcement officers have reason to believe evidence of a brickand-mortar tenant's criminal conduct had gotten stored in other tenants' storage spaces in the warehouse, the officers would confine the scope of a search warrant to a "data container" consisting of the target tenant's storage space,<sup>16</sup> which could - likely would - hold "data" of various kinds. Similarly, unless law enforcement officers had reason to believe evidence of a digital tenant's criminal conduct had gotten stored in other digital tenants' storage spaces in the warehouse, the officers would confine the scope of a search warrant to a "data container" consisting of the target tenant's storage space (e.g., an e-mail account), which could hold data of various kinds.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Unlike the brick-and-mortar warehouse, however, a digital service like Gmail can quickly expand as necessary to accommodate as many customers as choose to use the service. In effect, a digital service that allocates space for as many customers as arrive at the service's digital doorstep functions much like Hilbert's infinite-rooms hotel. For brief explanations of Hilbert's hotel, see Robert Crowston, *Hilbert's Hotel*, NRICH, http://nrich.maths.org/5788 (last visited Apr. 10, 2014); Steven Strogatz, *The Hilbert Hotel*, N.Y. TIMES, May 9, 2010, http://opinionator.blogs.nytimes.com/2 010/05/09/the-hilbert-hotel (last visited Apr. 10, 2014). Regardless of the overall size of the e-mail "warehouse," a customer (through an e-mail account) occupies a specifically identifiable digital storage space.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> "When a search involves a building with multiple, separate units, the warrant must specify the precise unit that is the subject of the search to satisfy the particularity requirement." *United States v. White*, 416 F.3d 634, 637 (7th Cir. 2005).

Ultimately, for Fourth Amendment purposes, the rise of digital data does not require the creation of new doctrines for analyzing the constitutionality of a digital-data search, whether warrantless or pursuant to a warrant. The Fourth Amendment-salient characteristics of digital data readily map to the Fourth Amendment-salient characteristics of nondigital data. In short, digital data do not shine more brightly in the glare of the Fourth Amendment than do nondigital data.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY REJECT-ED RINDFLEISCH'S OVERBREADTH CHAL-LENGE TO THE SEARCH WARRANTS BY WHICH THE STATE ACQUIRED E-MAIL MES-SAGES FROM GMAIL AND YAHOO! ACCOUNTS ESTABLISHED BY RINDFLEISCH.

In the supporting memorandum (24, R-Ap. 166-76) accompanying her suppression motion (23, R-Ap. 165), Rindfleisch referred to "discovery provided to defense counsel" that (in her characterization) showed that "the state sought and obtained *general investigative search warrants* to collect information and evidence from out-of-state internet service providers (ISPs), including Yahoo and Gmail" (24:2, R-Ap. 167 (emphasis added)). She contended that the warrants "failed to identify the objects to be seized with requisite particularity" (24:5, R-Ap. 170) and that "section 968.375 is unconstitutional as applied in this case" (24:9, R-Ap. 174).

On appeal, she reiterates and amplifies those contentions:

• "The Warrants Issued To Yahoo And GMail Lack The Level Of Particularity Required To Pass Constitutional Muster" (Rindfleisch's Brief at 17).

- "The Circuit Court Misapplied Bowen, Taylor and Mann" (id. at 20).
- "The Circuit Court Ignored The *Cunnius* Decision" (*id.* at 26).
- "Section 968.375 Is Unconstitutional As Applied In This Case" (*id.* at 32).
- "The Seizure And Copying Provision Of Rule 41(e)(2)(B) Does Not Trump The Fourth Amendment" (*id.* at 34).
- "The Warrants Were Overbroad" (*id.* at 37).
- "The State Provided No Indicia That The Seizure And Search Of Rindfleisch's Personal Laptop Computer Comported With The Fourth Amendment" (*id.* at 38).
- "Continuing Advances In Technology Mandate Evolving Considerations Of The Fourth Amendment To Protect Citizens As A Matter Of Public Policy" (*id.* at 40).

Rindfleisch's contentions lack merit. This court should reject them and should affirm the judgment of conviction.

## A. The Warrants Satisfied The Fourth Amendment's Particularity Criterion.

The Fourth Amendment provides:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.
U.S. Const. amend. IV. "The text of the Amendment thus expressly imposes two requirements. First, all searches and seizures must be reasonable. Second, a warrant may not be issued unless probable cause is properly established and the scope of the authorized search is set out with particularity." *Kentucky v. King*, 563 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 131 S. Ct. 1849, 1856 (2011).

The Fourth Amendment, however, does not set forth some general "particularity requirement." It specifies only two matters that must be "particularly describ[ed]" in the warrant: "the place to be searched" and "the persons or things to be seized." We have previously rejected efforts to expand the scope of this provision to embrace unenumerated matters.... "Nothing in the language of the Constitution or in this Court's decisions interpreting that language suggests that, in addition to the [requirements set forth in the text], search warrants also must include a specification of the precise manner in which they are to be executed."

*United States v. Grubbs*, 547 U.S. 90, 98 (2006) (citations omitted).

The particularity requirement may be satisfied through the express incorporation or crossreferencing of a supporting affidavit that describes the items to be seized, even though the search warrant contains no such description. "[T]he degree of specificity required is flexible and will vary depending on the crime involved and the types of items sought."

United States v. Richards, 659 F.3d 527, 537 (6th Cir. 2011). "Although the [F]ourth [A]mendment requires that a search warrant describe the objects of the search with reasonable specificity, it need not be elaborately detailed." Russell v. Harms, 397 F.3d 458, 464 (7th Cir. 2005) (citation omitted). "If detailed particularity is impossible, generic language is permissible if it particularizes the types of items to be seized."" *Id.* "Applying a reasonableness analysis on a case-by-case basis, the federal courts have rejected most particularity challenges to warrants authorizing the seizure and search of entire personal or business computers." *Richards*, 659 F.3d at 539 (collecting cases).

Despite Rindfleisch's laments, the warrants here satisfied the Fourth Amendment's particularity requirement. The following table summarizes the characteristics of the warrants and supporting affidavit:

CATEGORY OF WARRANT CONTENT	GMAIL WARRANT (26:6-7, R-AP. 184- 85) (filed Oct. 20, 2010)	YAHOO! WARRANT (26:2-3, R-AP. 180- 81) (filed Oct. 20, 2010)
Incorporation by reference	"attached affidavit [87:Ex 6, R-Ap. 276- 308]"	"attached affidavit [87:Ex 6, R-Ap. 276- 308]"
Container	"an account identi- fied as <u>kmrind</u> <u>fleisch@gmail.com</u> "	"the account identi- fied as <u>rellyk us</u> @yahoo.com"
Location	"stored at premises owned, maintained, controlled, or oper- ated by Gmail (Google), a compa- ny headquartered at 1600 Amphithea- tre Parkway, Mountain View, CA, 94043"	"stored at premises owned, maintained, controlled, or oper- ated by Yahoo, Inc., a company head- quartered at 701 First Avenue, Sunnyvale, Califor- nia 94089"
Period covered	"For the time peri- od of <u>January 1,</u> <u>2009</u> to the pre- sent"	"For the time peri- od of <u>January 1,</u> <u>2009</u> to the pre- sent"

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